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Our vision is for a future where a healthy Waikato River 
sustains abundant life and prosperous communities who, 
in turn, are all responsible for restoring and protecting 
the health and wellbeing of the Waikato River, and all it 
embraces, for generations to come.

for the Waikato River

These words form part of the vision and are taken from 
the maimai aroha, or lament, by Kiingi Taawhiao, the 
second Maaori King, in which he recorded his adoration 
for the Waikato River and the significance of the river 
as a treasure for all generations. These visionary words 
inspire the actions that will be necessary to restore the 
health and wellbeing of the Waikato River.

Tooku awa koiora me oona pikonga  
he kura tangihia o te maataamuri.

The river of life, each curve 
more beautiful than the last.

VisionContents
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The past year for the Waikato 

River Authority has seen a 

major focus on advocacy 

for the Vision & Strategy, 

ensuring its primacy as the 

direction setting document 

for the catchment.  

This work has involved 

engagement with local 

government in particular 

to ensure the role of local 

authorities helps produce the 

best outcomes for the Waikato 

River and Waipā River.
Hon John Luxton Roger Pikia 
 

In addition, there has been the effort around 
ensuring concentration and co-ordination 
of purpose of River Iwi, the Crown and the 
Waikato River Authority for the restoration 
and wellbeing of our awa. Special thanks and 
recognition are due for the role of Waikato-
Tainui in organising and hosting a hui for the 
purpose of looking at how we work together. 
This landmark gathering took place in 
Hamilton in November last year and was the 
first time all parties had joined together since 
the inception of the Authority in 2010.

The broader issue of how funding of 
freshwater clean-up initiatives is carried  
out has been given attention by the Office 
of the Auditor General. The Authority was 
able to contribute to the OAG report and has 
received high commendation for its methods 
and strategies.

     

A large representation of river iwi, 
together with the Crown and the 

Waikato River Authority, took part in 
a landmark hui on the future of the 

Waikato and Waipā rivers which was 
held in Hamilton in November last year.

Report
of the Co-Chairs

In presenting this 9th Annual Report of the  
Waikato River Authority, we again acknowledge 
the support of the five Waikato River Iwi and 
the special working relationship between the 
Authority and the Waikato Regional Council.

The Waikato River Clean-up Trust, the body 
responsible for the allocation of funding for 

The 2018 year saw another strong 
round of funding for clean-up projects 
with a total of 38 projects supported 
by the Authority through the Waikato 
River Clean-up Trust. It was especially 
pleasing to see more than a third of 
successful projects being iwi led. In 
total $6 million was distributed for  
the past year’s projects.

projects, was formed at the same time as  
the Waikato River Authority (which is the  
sole trustee of the Waikato River Clean-up 
Trust). This Annual Report therefore includes 
the affairs of both the Clean-up Trust and  
the Authority.

Teenaa koutou, teenaa koutou,  
teenaa koutou katoa.

co-chair       co-chair
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Landmark Hui 
 In a first since the formation of the Waikato River 

Authority in 2010, a hui was held with the five River 
Iwi, Crown and the Authority to discuss ways to work 
together more closely in the future. The hui was 
organised and hosted by Waikato-Tainui in Hamilton 
in November.

Board Changes
 There were changes to the Waikato River Authority 

board in 2018 when inaugural iwi Co-Chair 
Tukoroirangi Morgan (Waikato-Tainui appointee) 
stepped down from the Board. He was replaced as 
Co-Chair by Roger Pikia of Te Arawa River Iwi Trust. 
Rangi Mahuta was the new appointment to the 
Board from Waikato-Tainui. Another change saw 
the retirement of Heemi Biddle as the Tūwharetoa 
appointee, being replaced by Danny Loughlin. 

Freshwater Aspirations
 The Waikato River Authority hosted a workshop  

just prior to Christmas 2018 where stakeholders 
across the spectrum of interests in the Waikato River 
were able to present and listen to a range of views 
around aspirations for freshwater in the catchment.

 Those attending included Waikato-Tainui,  
DairyNZ, Mercury Energy, Watercare Services, 
AgResearch, Ministry for the Environment and 
Waikato Regional Council.

Heemi BiddleTukoroirangi Morgan

Full move to SmartyGrants
 The Authority completed a full transition to its 

new funding and project reporting system during 
the last year.

 The SmartyGrants online software is widely used 
throughout Australia and New Zealand.

 The system allows a more streamlined approach 
for applicants and more efficient management 
for the Authority as a funder.

Impact Investment
 There was strong interest generated during the 

year, following on from the Authority’s backing 
of research and business plan development for 
land use change in the Waipā catchment.

 Publicity around the project has drawn interest 
both nationally and internationally for a closer 
look at the impact investment. The proposal  
looks at moving a number of farms to low  
impact organic dairying with some associated 
land change.

Instruction videos for applications
 As part of the SmartyGrants implementation, and 

the desire to further assist funding applicants, 
the Authority completed production of a series of 
instructional videos on the funding process.

 The videos are available online at  
www.waikatoriver.org.nz 

Investment fund
 The Authority’s long-term investment fund 

increased by $6.2m to a total of $67.3m in the 
year to 30 June 2019 including investment 
returns of $3.7m and net cash flows to and from 
the fund.  The investment fund is split into three 
portfolios comprising of a Treasury Portfolio 
which increased +2.7% over the year, the Fixed 
Interest Portfolio which rose +4.2% and a long-
term Growth Portfolio which was up +7.0%.  All 
asset sectors except commodities contributed 
positively to the strong portfolio returns as easier 
monetary conditions supported financial markets 
despite global growth showing signs of slowing.  

 Australasian Shares were the standout 
performers rising +19.2% due to a combination 
of positive corporate activity, strong individual 
company growth and investor demand for NZ’s 
relatively high dividend yields.  Global Shares 
had a more volatile ride, ending the year ahead 
+4.2% but along the way experiencing the worst 
monthly performance since 1931.   

 The investment fund is conservatively invested 
and holds a diversified portfolio of high-quality 
growth and fixed interest securities which will 
assist to smooth performance over time. 

Advocacy for the Vision & Strategy
• In the past year the Authority has been 

proactive in its role to monitor the 
implementation of the Vision & Strategy. 
Activities undertaken include:

• Workshops with 7 territorial authorities to 
better integrate the Vision & Strategy into 
RMA planning documents

• Vision & Strategy discussions with responsible 
government agencies, sector groups, 
community groups and Marae

• Submissions and evidence to Regional and 
National policy, including:

• MfE National Planning Standards

• Waikato District Council Proposed  
District Plan

• Conservation (Indigenous Freshwater 
Fish) Amendment Bill

• WRC Proposed Plan Change 1

• Appointment of four Iwi Commissioners 
to separate Hearing Panels.

Highlights

291 
PROJECTS

IN EIGHT YEARS

44.1$

ALLOCATED
MILLION

2011
$5.5m 

allocated to 
41 projects

2012
$5m 

allocated to 
30 projects

2013
$5m 

allocated to 
33 projects

2014
$6m 

allocated to 
33 projects

2015
$5m 

allocated to 
32 projects 

2016
$4.3m 

allocated to 
38 projects 

2017
$7.3m 

allocated to 
46 projects

2018
$6m 

allocated to 
38 projects



Office of the Auditor-General: Review of 
Significant Freshwater Clean-up Funding

Funding Processes
The Authority’s Waikato and Waipā 
Restoration Strategy, published 
in 2018, builds on the Vision and 
Strategy and, with the annual 
contestable funding approach, helps to 
promote integrated and co-ordinated 
project selection. The Authority has 
a demonstrable focus on ensuring 
that there is project alignment with 
the Vision and Strategy as well as a 
commitment to enable fund applicants 
to be successful and establish an 
efficient and transparent funding 
application process. The Authority’s 
practice of employing different 
methods of payment, depending 
on the amount of project funding, 
provides evidence of a careful 
approach to risk. Online application 
processes (such as those that the 
Authority has in place) can improve 
data collection, automated reporting 
and analysis, and promote an effective 
audit trail. The OAG sees value in this 
for other freshwater clean-up funders 
and encourages the Authority to share 
its experiences.

Capacity Building
The Authority uses capacity building 
effectively to increase stakeholder 
engagement. We saw a wide range 
of initiatives demonstrating this, 
including funding workshops for 
iwi to explain the annual funding 
strategy and noting mātauranga Māori 
priorities, outlining important dates, 
covering what should be included in 
funding applications, and advising 
fund applicants on what other funding 
resources might be available to further 
support their projects.

A copy of OAG’s full report 
can be found under key 

documents at

www.waikatoriver.org.nz

Engagement and Knowledge 
Sharing

We saw a range of evidence supporting 
a focus on engagement, including 
community group co-ordination and 
facilitation and school curricula and 
awareness raising, to support social 
capacity and cohesion. Knowledge-
sharing (including mātauranga Māori, 
economic, social, and biophysical 
science) also promotes the Authority’s 
holistic approach to freshwater 
restoration for the Waikato and Waipā 
Rivers. We interviewed a range of 
stakeholders and individual restoration 
project managers, who all indicated 
strong engagement and confirmed 
that positive relationships had 
been built. The Authority’s focus on 
consultation with iwi and partnerships 
and collaborative approaches, as part 
of the fund selection process will, 
in our view have a positive effect 
on long-term relationships between 
iwi and other stakeholders. The 
Authority’s efforts to engage with 
stakeholders shows it understands 
the importance of communicating 
its approach, increasing public 
awareness, and building its reputation 
as an approachable and collaborative 
organisation. The Authority uses 
a range of communication tools, 
which allow the Authority to share 
high-profile successes, innovative 
projects, and challenges. This open 
approach demonstrates a strong effort 
to increase public engagement and 
knowledge of freshwater restoration in 
the Waikato region.

Freshwater Clean-up Challenges
Freshwater clean-up and restoration 
is not without its challenges. The 
Authority’s proactive efforts to 
publicly outline these challenges 
(using social media such as LinkedIn, 
international conferences, and more 
traditional media) is encouraging. 
The Authority understands the need 
to improve short-term reporting and 
change from an output focus to an 
outcomes focus. 

The Office of the Auditor-General 

(OAG) conducted a performance 

audit of the Ministry for the 

Environment’s freshwater clean-up 

funding’s effectiveness in 2018/19. 

Alongside this investigation the 

OAG worked with the Waikato 

River Authority as a reference 

funder of similar freshwater clean-

up projects. The OAG recently 

published its findings regarding our 

work. Key highlights of the OAG’s 

report are as follows:
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Completed projects 2018/2019
 During the past year, the Authority saw the completion of 22 funded projects. These projects were 

spread from 2013 through to 2018. The Waikato Clean-up Trust funding for these completed projects 

was just over $5 million. 

ORGANISATION AMOUNT PROJECT

Te Toke Ahuwhenua Trust $119,908 Te Toke Forest Wetland Restoration

DairyNZ $655,500 Waipā Sustainable Milk Plan Project

Waikato Regional Council $327,553 Waipā Rerenoa - River Restoration Project

Waikato Regional Council $132,663 Upper Mangatutu Stream Restoration

Waikato Regional Council $32,640
Mangapu River Riparian Restoration -  
Te Uira A2

Waikato Regional Council $224,237 Mangaotama Wetland Restoration

Ngāti Hauā Mahi Trust $202,250
Karapiro Catchment - Riparian Planting 
Project

Waikato River Trails $204,996 Waikato River Trails Riparian Restoration

Stuart Muir - Landowner $30,000
Motukakaho Whitebait Habitat Restoration 
Project

NZ Landcare Trust $75,824
Kahikatea Fragment Enhancement in the 
Waipā Catchment

Motukakaho Island Restoration 
Trust 

$15,000
Motukakaho Island Wetland Restoration- 
Phase 2

Waikato Regional Council $1,500,000
Waipā Catchment Erosion and Sediment 
Reduction Projects (2017-2019)

Te Rūnanga o Ngāti Kea Ngāti Tuara 
Trust $40,830 Horohoro Riparian Planting

John and Janis Milburn - 
Landowners 

$8,473 Mangauika Project

Ngati Maahanga $17,250
Ngaati Maahanga - Oomaero Paa Puna 
Restoration (Whatawhata)

DairyNZ, Waikato Regional Council 
& Waikato River Authority

$1,058,797
Restoration Strategy for the Waikato River 
and Waipā River

Keith and Wendy Lambeth - 
Landowners 

$21,011
Lake Downs Hill Country Erosion 
Management Project

Stuart Muir - Landowner $50,000
Te Papa / Mangati Restoration Strategy 
Project

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board $65,617 Maniapoto Kaitiaki Wānanga

Waipa District Council $210,000 Lake Ngaroto Land Purchase

Waikato District Council $107,411
Development of Lake Waikare South 
Reserve for Recreation

Rangitoto Lands Ltd $26,000
Upper Waipā - Wetlands/Land Protection 
Project

TOTAL $5,125,960

Project Outcomes
Outcomes from Waikato River Authority funded  
projects completed in the 2018/2019 year include:

$2.1m
Amount of cash co-funding 
achieved for projects

77
Kilometres of fencing to  
protect land and water

342,500
Native trees planted  
for restoration

1453
People who attended 
community engagement

550
Hectares of land  
restored and enhanced

22
Projects completed  
during the 2018/19 year
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Kahikatea that escaped becoming butter 
boxes are now preserved for the future

A Waikato River Authority project to help save and restore remnant stands of 

kahikatea on Waikato and Waipā farmland was completed in the last year.

Carried out by NZ Landcare Trust, the project saw 
10 different stands of the historic trees come in for 
attention and preservation.

Project manager Nardene Berry says the restoration 
work has been some of the most successful she’s been 
involved with from the point of view of what has been 
achieved, and for the enthusiasm it has generated with 
landowners.

"The landowners’ passion for their kahikatea stands 
and the huge amount of work undertaken, and what 
they will continue to do, is just inspiring,” she says.

The project involved working with seven different 
landowners and encompassed fencing, weed control 
and planting.

The planting that has been carried out has been 
planned to help bring back a greater diversity of  
native bird life into the remnant stands by providing  
a naturally diverse food source and habitat.

Nardene Berry says one of the kahikatea stands 
worked on is a significant breeding ground for  
native bats. 

The kahikatea once dominated the forests which 
covered much of New Zealand’s swampy lowland 
areas. They were cleared to make way for farmland 
and in the late 1800s they were used to make millions 
of boxes to export butter and cheese. The kahikatea’s 
soft, pale and odourless wood was perfect for these 
boxes.

The Waikato River Authority contributed $77,000 in 
funding towards the kahikatea preservation project, 
with the NZ Landcare Trust also securing another 
$57,000 in cash and in-kind contributions. 

Project Metrics

12,500 
Number of native plants

2.5km  
Length of new fencing

19  
Planting and weeding days 
 

10  
Hectares of land restored

83 
Volunteers multiplied  
by days

Volunteer workers on Rosemary and Graeme 
Davison’s property at Otewa near Otorohanga 
where a kahikatea fragment was fenced and 
planted. (Photograph Nardene Berry).

Freshwater Funding 
A major piece of work conducted by 
the Office of the Auditor General (OAG)
provides additional opportunity to 
examine ways in which the Authority’s 
clean-up funding can be further 
maximised in the year ahead.

While the Authority’s clean-up fund 
operations have been given strong 
endorsement by the OAG, the broad 
approach of the report gives insight 
and learnings that are of benefit to  
the Authority in the future.

Vision & Strategy Review
There will be further progress with the 
review of the Vision & Strategy (V&S) in 
the coming year. The work will include 
the commissioning of any research and 
reports that may be required to inform 
the review. River Iwi and Crown, as 
the parties ultimately responsible for 
any decisions on potential change to 
the Vision & Strategy, will be tightly 
involved in the process. It is likely 
wider engagement on the review will 
take place in 2019-2020.

The legislation creating the Waikato 
River Authority specifically calls for a 
review of the V&S to begin no earlier 
than five years and no later than 10 
years after a previous review. The last 
review of the V&S took place in 2011.

$50m of Funding
The Authority is likely to reach a 
funding milestone of $50m distributed 
to clean-up projects in the Waikato 
River and Waipā River catchments in 
the coming year. To date, 291 projects 
have received funding of $44.1m.  
Up to $6m has been earmarked for 
allocation to clean-up projects for the 
Authority’s 9th funding round to be 
completed before the end of the 2019 
calendar year.

Sharing Outcomes
The Authority will commit further 
resources in the coming year to ensure 

that learnings from successful clean-up 
projects are well communicated.

This area of work got underway last 
year, however additional video story-
telling, website enhancement and 
presentation of key metrics will be a 
focus in the coming year.

Healthy Rivers
Healthy Rivers: Plan for Change/Wai 
Ora: He Rautaki Whakapaipai remains 
of utmost importance to the Waikato 
River Authority. The process to get to 
any decisions has been longer than 
expected, however in the coming 
year, the Authority will remain closely 
connected to the Plan process. Last 
year saw the Authority submitting 
alongside River Iwi and keeping a close 
overview of all submissions. Decisions 
are not expected until early 2020 and 
there is likely to be an appeal process 
to follow, which will require a further 
commitment of resources from the 
Authority. 

Impact Investment
Following on from last year’s profile 
given to potential impact investment 
in the Waipā River catchment, the 
Authority will look to facilitate 
investment in this area.

Environmental funds, both domestic 
and international, as well as major 
investment funds are prospective 
participants. Modifying land use in the 
catchment through impact investment 
is regarded as an opportunity to bring 
about better environmental outcomes.

Preparation for 5-Year Report
The Authority will be producing its 
second 5-Year Report to the Crown 
and River Iwi for the period ending 
December 2020. While this report 
won’t be produced until partway 
through 2021, preparatory work for 
the delivery of the report will get 
underway next year.

Looking Forward
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Funding recipients 2018/2019

ORGANISATION APPROVED 
MAXIMUM PROJECT

Waikato District Council $167,095 Development of Lake Waikare South 
Reserve for Recreation

Mr Benjamin Ormsby $56,261 Puketotara Ngakoahia River Restoration

Waikato RiverCare Incorporated $28,187 Butler Farm Tuhikaramea Stream 
Restoration

Ngāti Tahu-Ngāti Whaoa Rūnanga Trust $136,626 Restoration of Wai-o-Tapu Geothermal 
Area

Waikato Regional Council & Waikato 
Tainui College for Research and 
Development

$110,608 Fish Passage-Trap and Transfer Feasibility 
and Kaitiaki Development

Waikato River Trails Trust $240,855 River Protection Work Along River Trails

Waikato Rowing Club Incorporated $103,500 Waikato 100 Rowing and Paddling River 
Race

Waikato District Council $250,000 Mangawara River Bridge Crossing

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust $18,000 Building Iwi Capacity Matauranga

University of Waikato $517,500 Maatauranga Wai Academic Chair 
University of Waikato

Waikato Regional Council $126,500
Lower Waikato Stream and Hill Country 
Erosion Protection and Remediation 
Project

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board $100,000 Maniapoto Kaitiaki Wānanga

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board $30,992 Te Puna o Te Roimata – Repo and Spring 
Restoration

Ngāti Hauā Mahi Trust $194,677 Westlake Wetland and Riparian 
Restoration Project – Karapiro Stage 3

New Zealand Farm Environment Trust $28,750 Waikato River Authority Catchment 
Improvement Award

Waikato-Tainui College for Research and 
Development $217,207 Waikato-Tainui River Education Package

Waikato Regional Council $126,500
Upper Karapiro and Mangaonua 
Catchments Hill Country and Streambank 
Erosion Protection and Remediation

Mr Sean Francis $22,024 Mangamingi Stream Restoration – Stage 2

Kōwhai Media Ltd $50,000 NZ Virtually Reality – Creation of Waikato 
River VR Experience

Waiterimu Golf Club $26,928 Waiterimu Golf Club Stock Exclusion and 
Riparian Planting Project

Te Rūnanga O Ngāti Kea Ngāti Tuara Trust $79,800
Identification and Protection of Ngāti 
Kearoa Ngāti Tuara Sites of significance 
Project

ORGANISATION APPROVED 
MAXIMUM PROJECT

Te Rūnanga O Ngāti Kea Ngāti Tuara Trust $72,745 Horohoro Riparian Planting Stage 2

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust $250,000
Ruahuwai Takiwa – Environmental 
Information Sharing (Real Time 
Monitoring)

Rangitoto Lands Ltd $26,000 Upper Waipa-Wetlands/Land Protection 
Project

Mr Alan Wills $24,265 Double A Oaks Wharekaunga Stream 
Riparian and Wetland Restoration Project

Mr Rhys Bullock $23,584
Omahanui Wharekaka Stream Catchment 
Hill Country Sediment and Erosion 
Control Remediation Project

Mr Barrie Stewart $18,846 Rangaakiaki Stream Wetland Restoration 
Project

Mr Malcolm Cane $16,362
Cane Hill Country Erosion Protection and 
Remediation, Upper Torepatutahi Stream 
Project

Raukawa Charitable Trust $112,194 Raukawa Kaitiaki and Mahingā Kai 
Enhancement Project

Te Awa River Ride Charitable Trust $384,055 Cambridge to Hamilton Cycleway and 
Planting – Cambridge Section

Waikato Regional Council $1,610,000 Waipa Catchment Erosion and Sediment 
Reduction Projects (2019-2020)

National Institute of Water and 
Atmospheric Research (NIWA) $400,000 2020 Waikato River Report Card

Upper Maire Land Care Society 
Incorporated $24,985

Mitigation of Extreme Weather Events 
Through Poplar Planting on Erosion Prone 
Hill Country

Mangatawhiri River Catchment Care 
Group $93,730 Upper Mangatawhiri Bank Stabilisation 

Project

Kapuia Ltd $113,872

Ngaati Maahanga – Identification, 
Restoration and Protection of Waahi  
Tapu and Sites of Significance  
(Puniu ki Ngaruawahia)

Te Whakakitenga o Waikato Incorporated $80,000 Waikato-Tainui Project Kaitiaki

Raukawa Charitable Trust $65,047 Te Waotu me Arowhena Wahi Tupuna

Enterprise 303 Ltd $38,657 King Puna – Stage 2 Planting Project
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Waikato River Authority
our Board

Hon John Luxton CNZM QSO Co-Chair Crown appointee

John was a Member of Parliament from the Waikato Region for 1987 through until 2002. As 
a Cabinet Minister for nine years he held a number of portfolios including Lands, Forestry, 
Agriculture, and Māori Affairs. He is a graduate of Massey University – B.Agr.Sc., M.Mgmt and 
he has an Honorary D.Sc from Lincoln University. His career prior to becoming an MP involved 
farming and international consulting. He has farming and business interests in the Waikato. He 
is currently Chairman of the Asia NZ Foundation and Pouarua Farm Partnership Ltd. He is a past 
director and chair of Tatua Co-op Dairy Co Ltd and DairyNZ and a former director of Landcare 
Research, Wallace Corporation Ltd and Royal NZ Ballet.

Roger Pikia Co-Chair Iwi appointee

Roger is of Te Arawa and Tainui descent. He is Chair of the Te Arawa River Iwi Trust and was 
the inaugural Chief Executive Officer of Te Arawa Group Holdings (TAGH), the commercial arm 
of Te Arawa. Roger was previously a business consultant with a range of commercial clients. 
This included consultancy work for the New Zealand Government in United Nations climate 
change forums across Europe. Roger has a background in the primary sector having spent five 
years as a senior manager with AgResearch. His interests include the dairy, sheep and, beef 
industries.

Roger continues to serve as a Chairman and Trustee of Māori land trusts which hold interests 
in the geothermal and agribusiness sectors.

Weo Maag Deputy Co-Chair Iwi appointee

Weo is a tribal member of Maniapoto and is a current trustee of their Iwi authority, Maniapoto 
Maori Trust Board. He was an inaugural member of the Guardians Establishment Committee 
(forerunner to the WRA) and was also a negotiator for Nga wai o Maniapoto (Waipa River) Act 
2012. Weo has a particular focus on the sustainable use of land and water, and improving 
economic and environmental performance specifically on Ahuwhenua Trusts (Maori land). Weo is 
a member of the Collaborative Stakeholders Group for the Healthy Rivers: Plan for Change/Wai 
Ora: He Rautaki Whakapaipai. He is also a Trustee and a committee member of several entities 
and has a diploma in Agribusiness, and is also a certified Resource Management Act hearings 
commissioner.

Weo lives in Te Kuiti.

Peter Buckley Crown Appointee

Peter is a past chair and previous councillor for Waikato Regional Council that has broad-ranging 
responsibilities for the economic, environmental, social and cultural wellbeing of the Waikato region.

Peter was first elected to the council to represent North Waikato-Hauraki in 2007.

Prior to his election to the Regional Council, Peter had 25 years involvement with Waikato Federated 
Farmers. His leadership positions at branch and regional level culminated in him holding the 
presidency before becoming council chairman.

Peter has also been heavily involved in his local community working with schools, sports clubs, 
support trusts and veterinary clubs. He has dairy farmed in partnership with Judi for 45 years at 
Island Block. Peter is the Regional Chairman of the Waikato Medical Research Foundation and is also 
a member of the Future Proof Committee. He is also a member of the Waikato Regional Council Lower 
Waikato Liaison Catchment Committee.

Rangi Mahuta Iwi Appointee

Ko Taupiri te Maunga, Ko Waikato te Awa, Ko Waikato te Iw, iHe Piko he taniwha, he piko he taniwha.

Rangi is the Waikato-Tainui appointee to the Waikato River Authority.

She grew up by and on the Waikato River.  She spent the early part of her life learning at the feet of 
her nannies, and then later was mentored by people like Carmen Kirkwood and her kaumaatua into 
the environmental space. Rangi spent many years at Huakina Development Trust working for the 
health and wellbeing of the environment and the whanau of Te Puuaha ki Manuka. In recent times 
she has been working as part of the Waikato-Tainui teams.

Rangi was a Waikato-Tainui appointee to the Guardians Establishment Committee which 
implemented the process for the development of Te Ture Whaimana – Vision & Strategy for the 
Waikato River.

She continues to work for the health and wellbeing of the environment.

Danny Loughlin Iwi appointee 

Ko Tongariro te maunga, Ko Taupō te moana, Ko Tūwharetoa te iwi, Ko te Heuheu te tangata. Ko Ngāti 
Ruingarangi, Ngāti Rauhoto rātou ko Ngāti Te Maunga nga karangaranga hapū.

Danny Aperahama Loughlin is the iwi appointee for Tūwharetoa. He is General Manager for Ngāti 
Tūwharetoa Fisheries. Prior to that he was an Accountant practicing in Taupō.

Danny has a Bachelor of Management Studies from Waikato University and was a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand.

As a trustee of the Tūwharetoa Maori Trust Board for over 12 years, he has a responsibility as the legal 
kaitiaki for Taupō Waters, including the Waikato River.

His current board responsibilities include; Tūwharetoa Maori Trust Board, Waikato Regional Council 
Joint Governance Committee, Ngati Tūwharetoa Fisheries Holdings Limited, Tauhara Moana Trust, 
Tauhara Dairy Ltd, Healthy Rivers Plan for Change / Wai Ora – He Rautaki Whakapaipai Committee.

Barry Harris Crown Appointee

Barry Harris is a company director with extensive governance and executive experience. Barry has 
held a number of Chief Executive roles including Environment Waikato, Greater Wellington Regional 
Council and Hamilton City Council. He was also a senior executive with Fonterra for five years.

Barry is currently Chair of Wintec, Food Innovation Waikato and McFall Fuels. He is also Chair of  
NIWA and OSPRI (formerly Animal Health Board). Barry is also on the board of WEL Networks Limited, 
Waikato Regional Airport Limited and Waikato Regional Airport Hotel Limited.

Previous boards include; Waikato Regional Airport Limited, Waikato Regional Airport Hotel Limited, 
CentrePort, DairyNZ, RD1, AgResearch, International Nutritionals, Hamilton Riverside Hotels, Waikato 
Local Authority Shared Services and Primary ITO.

Barry has a Masters of Agricultural Science (Honours) and lives in Hamilton.

Traci Houpapa MNZM JP Deputy Co-Chair Crown appointee

Traci is an award winning company director and a recognised industry leader. She specialises 
in strategic and economic development advice to Maori, iwi, public and private sector clients 
throughout New Zealand. Traci is known for her strong and inclusive leadership and her clear 
focus on building the wealth and prosperity of Aotearoa New Zealand.

Named in the BBC's Top 100 most influential women in the world, Traci has been recognised as 
one of the top ten most influential women in New Zealand agribusiness, amongst the Listener’s 
top ten influencers in New Zealand, and included in Westpac’s New Zealand Women Powerbrokers 
list. She won the Fairfax Media Westpac Women of Influence Board and Management Award 
and was awarded the Massey University Distinguished Alumni Service Award for services to 
agribusiness and Maori.

Traci is a Chartered Fellow of the NZ Institute of Directors, has an MBA from Massey University and 
is a Member of the New Zealand Order of Merit, a Justice of the Peace and a Marriage Celebrant.

Alan is the chair of the Waikato Regional Council and has previously had four terms as the 
Mayor of Waipa District. In addition he completed two terms as a Waipa councillor. He is a 
Crown appointee to the Waikato River Authority and was a Crown appointee to the Authority’s 
forerunner the Guardians Establishment Committee.

He is a graduate of Lincoln University, with a B Agri Com in valuation and farm management.

For the past 30 years Alan has been a sheep and beef farmer at Te Pahu. He is a life member 
of the Queen Elizabeth II Trust and a covenanter of two bush blocks along with smaller 
bush areas which have been fenced and retired. He is a former Trustee of the Maungatautari 
Ecological Island Trust with which he has continuing involvement.

Alan is chair of the Waikato Mayoral Forum, and also a trustee of Sport Waikato.

Alan Livingston ONZM Crown appointee

 
 

Vanessa Eparaima MNZM Iwi appointee (part year) 

Vanessa (Raukawa, Ngāti Tūwharetoa) is the Raukawa Settlement Trust Executive Chairperson,  
Chairperson of the Raukawa Charitable Trust, and a Director of Raukawa Iwi Development Ltd. 

She is a Director of CNI Iwi Holdings, a Co-Chair of CNI Iwi Land Management and a Director on Te Pūia 
Tāpapa Fund, a Māori investment fund.

Vanessa is the Chair of the Council of Te Wānanga o Aotearoa (Te Mana Whakahaere) and is a recipient 
of a New Zealand Order of Merit for services to Māori. 

She is a business consultant, company director and former chief executive in the tourism sector. 
Vanessa sits on a range of business and not-for-profit boards. She is a passionate advocate for Māori,  
the community and for environmental issues.

She has a strong history of working with the wider community, kaumātua, iwi chairs, Ministers, Members 
of Parliament and numerous stakeholders to achieve positive outcomes for the communities she serves. 
Vanessa is married to Ngarepo and is the proud mother of three young adults.
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Summary
of Attendance

August 2018
Waikato River Clean-up Trust – 9 August

Vanessa Eparaima (via teleconference), Peter Buckley, Alan Livingston,  
Roger Pikia, Weo Maag, Hon. John Luxton, Barry Harris, Tukoroirangi Morgan,  
Traci Houpapa, Heemi Biddle

Waikato River Authority – 9 August

Vanessa Eparaima (via teleconference), Peter Buckley, Alan Livingston,  
Roger Pikia, Weo Maag, Hon. John Luxton, Barry Harris, Tukoroirangi Morgan,  
Traci Houpapa, Heemi Biddle  

October 2018
Waikato River Clean-up Trust – 11 October

Hon. John Luxton, Roger Pikia, Weo Maag, Peter Buckley, Barry Harris,  
Traci Houpapa, Heemi Biddle (via teleconference)

Apologies received from:  
Tukoroirangi Morgan, Alan Livingston

Waikato River Authority – 11 October

Hon. John Luxton, Roger Pikia, Weo Maag, Peter Buckley, Barry Harris,  
Traci Houpapa, Heemi Biddle (via teleconference)

Apologies received from:  
Tukoroirangi Morgan, Alan Livingston

November 2018
Annual General Meeting – 1 November

Roger Pikia, Alan Livingston, Weo Maag, Peter Buckley, Rangi Mahuta,  
Danny Loughlin

Apologies received from:  
Hon. John Luxton, Traci Houpapa, Barry Harris

February 2019
Waikato River Clean-up Trust – 14 February

Hon. John Luxton, Roger Pikia, Traci Houpapa, Weo Maag, Alan Livingston,  
Peter Buckley, Danny Loughlin

Apologies received from:   
Rangi Mahuta, Barry Harris

Waikato River Authority – 14 February

Hon. John Luxton, Roger Pikia, Traci Houpapa, Weo Maag, Alan Livingston,  
Peter Buckley, Danny Loughlin

Apologies received from:   
Rangi Mahuta, Barry Harris

April 2019
Waikato River Clean-up Trust – 11 April

Roger Pikia (via teleconference), Hon. John Luxton, Weo Maag, Alan Livingston, 
Peter Buckley, Barry Harris, Danny Loughlin, Rangi Mahuta 

Apologies received from: Traci Houpapa

Waikato River Authority – 11 April

Roger Pikia (via teleconference), Hon. John Luxton, Weo Maag, Alan Livingston, 
Peter Buckley, Barry Harris, Danny Loughlin, Rangi Mahuta 

Apologies received from: Traci Houpapa

June 2019
Waikato River Clean-up Trust – 13 June

Traci Houappa (via teleconference), Hon. John Luxton, Roger Pikia, Weo Maag, 
Alan Livingston, Barry Harris, Peter Buckley, Rangi Mahuta, Danny Loughlin

Waikato River Authority – 13 June

Traci Houappa (via teleconference), Hon. John Luxton, Roger Pikia, Weo Maag, 
Alan Livingston, Barry Harris, Peter Buckley, Rangi Mahuta, Danny Loughlin

Summary of attendance by Board members at meetings during the year:

16 17
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 for the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial Statements

A kaitiaki project based around freshwater monitoring was 
completed earlier this year by Raukawa with support from the 
Waikato River Authority.

Waikato River Authority
Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2019
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Waikato River Authority

	

Independent	Auditor’s	Report	
	

To	the	readers	of	Waikato	River	Authority’s	financial	statements	
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	

	
The	Auditor-General	is	the	auditor	of	Waikato	River	Authority	(the	Authority).	The	Auditor-General	has	appointed	me,	David	Walker,	using	the	staff	

and	resources	of	Audit	New	Zealand,	to	carry	out	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	Authority	on	his	behalf.		

Opinion		

We	have	audited	the	financial	statements	of	the	Authority	on	pages	22	to	30,	that	comprise	the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2019,	

the	statement	of	comprehensive	revenue	and	expenses,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	ended	on	that	

date	and	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements	including	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.	

In	our	opinion:	

• the	financial	statements	of	the	Authority	on	pages	22	to	30:	

! present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects:	

• its	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2019;	and	

• its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended;	and	

! comply	with	generally	accepted	accounting	practice	in	New	Zealand	in	accordance	with	the	Public	Benefit	Entity	Reporting	

Standards	Reduced	Disclosure	Regime.	

Our	audit	was	completed	on	10	October	2019.	This	is	the	date	at	which	our	opinion	is	expressed.	

The	basis	for	our	opinion	is	explained	below.	In	addition,	we	outline	the	responsibilities	of	the	Board	and	our	responsibilities	relating	to	the	

financial	statements,	we	comment	on	other	information,	and	we	explain	our	independence.	

Basis	for	our	opinion	

We	carried	out	our	audit	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards,	which	incorporate	the	Professional	and	Ethical	Standards	

and	the	International	Standards	on	Auditing	(New	Zealand)	issued	by	the	New	Zealand	Auditing	and	Assurance	Standards	Board.	Our	

responsibilities	under	those	standards	are	further	described	in	the	Responsibilities	of	the	auditor	section	of	our	report.	

We	have	fulfilled	our	responsibilities	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards.		

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	audit	opinion.	

Responsibilities	of	the	Board	for	the	financial	statements	

The	Board	is	responsible	on	behalf	of	the	Authority	for	preparing	financial	statements	that	are	fairly	presented	and	comply	with	generally	accepted	

accounting	practice	in	New	Zealand.	The	Board	is	responsible	for	such	internal	control	as	it	determines	is	necessary	to	enable	it	to	prepare	financial	

statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.		

In	preparing	the	financial	statements,	the	Board	is	responsible	on	behalf	of	the	Authority	for	assessing	the	Authority’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	

concern.	The	Board	is	also	responsible	for	disclosing,	as	applicable,	matters	related	to	going	concern	and	using	the	going	concern	basis	of	

accounting,	unless	there	is	an	intention	to	merge	or	to	terminate	the	activities	of	the	Authority,	or	there	is	no	realistic	alternative	but	to	do	so.	

The	Board’s	responsibilities	arise	from	schedule	6	of	the	Waikato-Tainui	Raupatu	Claims	(Waikato	River)	Settlement	Act	2010.		

Responsibilities	of	the	auditor	for	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	

Our	objectives	are	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements,	as	a	whole,	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	

whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	and	to	issue	an	auditor’s	report	that	includes	our	opinion.		

Reasonable	assurance	is	a	high	level	of	assurance,	but	is	not	a	guarantee	that	an	audit	carried	out	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	

Auditing	Standards	will	always	detect	a	material	misstatement	when	it	exists.	Misstatements	are	differences	or	omissions	of	amounts	or	

disclosures,	and	can	arise	from	fraud	or	error.	Misstatements	are	considered	material	if,	individually	or	in	the	aggregate,	they	could	reasonably	be	

expected	to	influence	the	decisions	of	readers,	taken	on	the	basis	of	these	financial	statements.	

We	did	not	evaluate	the	security	and	controls	over	the	electronic	publication	of	the	financial	statements.		

As	part	of	an	audit	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards,	we	exercise	professional	judgement	and	maintain	professional	

scepticism	throughout	the	audit.	Also:	

• We	identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	design	and	

perform	audit	procedures	responsive	to	those	risks,	and	obtain	audit	evidence	that	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	

our	opinion.	The	risk	of	not	detecting	a	material	misstatement	resulting	from	fraud	is	higher	than	for	one	resulting	from	error,	as	fraud	

may	involve	collusion,	forgery,	intentional	omissions,	misrepresentations,	or	the	override	of	internal	control.	

• We	obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	

circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	Authority’s	internal	control.	

• We	evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	related	disclosures	

made	by	the	Board.	

• We	conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	by	the	Board	and,	based	on	the	audit	evidence	

obtained,	whether	a	material	uncertainty	exists	related	to	events	or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	doubt	on	the	Authority’s	ability	

to	continue	as	a	going	concern.	If	we	conclude	that	a	material	uncertainty	exists,	we	are	required	to	draw	attention	in	our	auditor’s	

report	to	the	related	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements	or,	if	such	disclosures	are	inadequate,	to	modify	our	opinion.	Our	

conclusions	are	based	on	the	audit	evidence	obtained	up	to	the	date	of	our	auditor’s	report.	However,	future	events	or	conditions	may	

cause	the	Authority	to	cease	to	continue	as	a	going	concern.	

• We	evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	financial	statements,	including	the	disclosures,	and	whether	the	

financial	statements	represent	the	underlying	transactions	and	events	in	a	manner	that	achieves	fair	presentation.	

We	communicate	with	the	Board	regarding,	among	other	matters,	the	planned	scope	and	timing	of	the	audit	and	significant	audit	findings,	

including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control	that	we	identify	during	our	audit.		

Our	responsibilities	arise	from	the	Public	Audit	Act	2001.	

Other	information	

The	Board	is	responsible	for	the	other	information.	The	other	information	comprises	the	information	included	on	pages	1	to	19,	31	to	33	but	does	

not	include	the	financial	statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.	

Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	other	information	and	we	do	not	express	any	form	of	audit	opinion	or	assurance	

conclusion	thereon.	

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information.	In	doing	so,	we	consider	whether	the	

other	information	is	materially	inconsistent	with	the	financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	obtained	in	the	audit,	or	otherwise	appears	to	be	

materially	misstated.	If,	based	on	our	work,	we	conclude	that	there	is	a	material	misstatement	of	this	other	information,	we	are	required	to	report	

that	fact.	We	have	nothing	to	report	in	this	regard.	

Independence	

We	are	independent	of	the	Authority	in	accordance	with	the	independence	requirements	of	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards,	which	

incorporate	the	independence	requirements	of	Professional	and	Ethical	Standard	1	(Revised):	Code	of	Ethics	for	Assurance	Practitioners	issued	by	

the	New	Zealand	Auditing	and	Assurance	Standards	Board.		

Other	than	in	our	capacity	as	auditor,	we	have	no	relationship	with,	or	interests,	in	the	Authority.	

	

David	Walker	

Audit	New	Zealand	

On	behalf	of	the	Auditor-General	

Auckland,	New	Zealand		
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Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

Revenue

Government grants 4  910,000  910,000 

Finance revenue  833  570 

Total revenue  910,833 910,570

Expenses

Other expenses 5  (345,760) (354,490)

Personnel costs  (3,109)  (13,346)

Total expenses  (348,869) (367,836)

Surplus / (deficit) for the period  561,964 542,734

Other comprehensive revenue & expense  -  - 

Total comprehensive revenue & expense 
for the period  561,964  542,734 

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6  565,815  501,001 

Receivables 7  668,224  158,714 

Total current assets  1,234,039  659,715 

Total assets  1,234,039  659,715 

Liabilities

Payables 8  51,575  39,215 

Total current liabilities  51,575  39,215 

Total liabilities  51,575  39,215 

Net assets  1,182,464  620,500 

Equity

Retained Earnings  1,182,464  620,500 

Total equity  1,182,464  620,500 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Hon John Luxton  Weo Maag
co-chair  DEPUTY co-chair

10 October 2019

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Retained 
Earnings

Total 
Equity

Balance as at 1 July 2017  77,766  77,766 

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year

Surplus / (deficit) for the year 542,734 542,734

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year 542,734 542,734

Balance at 30 June 2018  620,500  620,500

  

Balance as at 1 July 2018  620,500  620,500 

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year

Surplus / (deficit) for the year 561,964 561,964

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the year 561,964 561,964

Balance at 30 June 2019  1,182,464  1,182,464 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Government grants received  910,000  910,000 

Interest revenue received  758  503 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (354,709)  (349,614)

Payments on behalf of Trust  (491,235)  (158,546)

Net cash flows from operating activities  64,814  402,343 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, 
and bank overdrafts  64,814  402,343 

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the 
beginning of the year  501,001  98,658 

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the 
end of the year 6  565,815  501,001 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

1  Reporting entity

The Waikato River Authority (the “Authority”) has been established by virtue of the 
provision of section 22(1) of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) 
Settlement Act 2010 and section 23 (1) of the Ngati Tuwharetoa, Raukawa, and 
Te Arawa River Iwi Waikato River Act 2010. These financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with schedule 6 of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims 
(Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010.

The Authority has been established to restore and protect the health and wellbeing 
of the Waikato River for future generations. Accordingly the Authority has designated 
itself as a public benefit entity (“PBE”) for financial reporting purposes. The financial 
statements are for the year ended 30 June 2019.                

 The financial statements were approved by the Trustees on 10 October 2019.               

2  Basis of preparation

 a)  Going concern 

 The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, and the 
accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period.                

  b)  Statement of compliance              

 The financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in accordance with 
New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“NZ GAAP”).               

 The Authority has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the   
purposes of complying with NZ GAAP.              

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply 
with PBE standards RDR (Tier 2). The Authority is eligible to report under Tier 3 
as it is not defined as a large entity, has no public accountability (as defined), and 
has expenses less than $2 million, but has elected to comply with PBE standards 
RDR (Tier 2) in line with the Waikato River Clean-up Trust (the “Trust”). The 
Authority has taken advantage of all Reduced Disclosure Regime (RDR) disclosure 
concessions, however it has elected to still provide a cash and cash equivalents 
accounting policy.              

  c)  Basis of measurement              

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.              

  d)  Presentation currency and rounding              

 These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($), all values 
are rounded to the nearest dollar.              

  e)  Use of estimates and judgements              

 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.               

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.         

3 Significant accounting policies

a) Financial instruments

i) Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in term deposits, 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, 

plus, for instruments not at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue & Expense, any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent 
to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured as 
described below. 

A financial instrument is recognised if the Authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised 
if the Authority’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
assets expire or if the Authority transfers the financial asset to another 
party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the 
asset.  Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, 
i.e., the date that the Authority commits itself to purchase or sell the asset.  
Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Authority’s obligations specified 
in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances,call deposits and other 
highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less.  Bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 
Authority’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Receivables 

Receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provision for 
uncollectability.

Payables

Payables are recorded at the amount payable.

Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after 
balance date, which are included in non-current assets.    

b) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Authority’s assets, are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.  
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying 
amount of assets and are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

i) Impairment of loans and receivables

 Impairment losses on an individual basis are determined by an evaluation 
of the exposures on an instrument by instrument basis.  All individual 
instruments that are considered significant are subject to this approach.

For receivables which are not significant on an individual basis collective 
impairment is assessed on a portfolio basis based on numbers of days 
overdue, and taking into account the historical loss experience in portfolios 
with a similar amount of days overdue.

 The recoverable amount of the Authority’s loans and receivables carried at 
amortised cost is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets).  
Receivables with short duration are not discounted.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed.  The reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the financial 
asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. 
The amount of the reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue & Expense.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

c) Revenue

Revenue is measured at fair value. Revenue may be derived from either exchange 
or non-exchange transactions.

Exchange transactions

Exchange transactions are transactions where the Authority receives assets or 
services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal 
value to another entity in exchange.

The Authority receives the following exchange revenue streams:

i) Interest

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.

Non-exchange transactions

These are all other transactions which are not exchange transactions.

The Authority receives the following non-exchange revenue streams:

i) Government grants

 Grants received from the government are the primary source of funding to 
the Authority and are restricted for the purposes of the Authority meeting 
its objectives as specified in the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato 
River) Settlement Act 2010.  Government grants are recognised as revenue 
when they become receivable unless there is an obligation to return the 
funds if conditions of the grant are not met.  If there is such an obligation, the 
grants are initially recorded as grants received in advance and recognised as 
revenue when conditions of the grant are satisfied.  

d) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in surplus or deficit on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

Operating leases are not recognised on the Authority’s balance sheet. 

e) Income tax

In accordance with section CW 41(5)(a) of the Income Tax Act 2007 the Authority 
has been granted exemption from income tax as outlined in section 32(5) of 
the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010.  The 
Authority has been granted charitable status by the Charities Commission and is 
registered as a charity.

f) Goods and Service Tax

The entity is not registered for GST purposes and therefore the financial 
statements have been prepared on a GST inclusive basis.

g) Equity

Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. 
Equity is made up of retained earnings.

4  Government grants

2019 2018

       Government grants received 910,000 910,000

910,000 910,000

The Crown provides $910,000 directly to the Authority to cover reasonable 
operational costs for the Authority and Trust. These transactions have been 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense. During the 2018 
year, the Trust made the decision to fund its own expenditure and accordingly grants 
made to the Trust in 2019 are nil (2018: nil). 

The Authority does make payments on behalf of the Trust and the Authority is 
regularly reimbursed. Amounts that are outstanding at 30 June 2019 are recorded as 
a receivable by the Authority in the Statement of Financial Position.

5 Other expenses

Note 2019 2018

       Other expenses include:

       Accounting fees 39,082 41,007 

       Audit fees - current year 18,340 18,100

       Audit fees - prior year - 122

       Consultant and contractor fees 140,016 161,011

       Trustees’ fees 12 2,554  6,112

       Trustees’ and governance expenses 12 865  1,203  

       Operating leases 10  3,757  3,597

       Other operating expenses 141,146  123,338

345,760  354,490

6 Cash and cash equivalents

2019 2018

       Bank balances 565,815 501,001

       Total cash and cash equivalents in the 
       Statement of Cash Flows 565,815 501,001

The carrying value of cash at bank and short-term deposits with maturities less than three 
months approximates their fair value.

7 Receivables

2019 2018

       Receivables from exchange transactions:

       Prepayments  18,227  - 

       Interest accrual  216   140  

       Reimbursement receivable from Waikato River 
       Clean-up Trust  649,781  158,546  

       Other receivables  -  28 

 668,224  158,714 

Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provisions for 
uncollectability. A receivable is considered uncollectable when there is evidence the 
amount due will not be fully collected. The amount that is uncollectable is the difference 
between the amount due and the present value of the amount expected to be collected.

8 Payables

2019 2018

       Payables from exchange transactions:

       Other payables 33,235    28,015  

       Accrued expenses  18,340    11,200  

  51,575   39,215 

Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.
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9 Financial instruments

Classification and fair values

Note

Loans 
and 

receivables 

Other 
amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

2019 2019 2019 2019

Financial assets

Receivables 7 649,997  - 649,997 649,997

Cash and cash equivalents 6 565,815 - 565,815 565,815

Total current financial 
assets 1,215,812 - 1,215,812 1,215,812

Total financial assets 1,215,812 - 1,215,812 1,215,812

Financial liabilities    

Payables 8  - 51,575 51,575 51,575

Total current financial 
liabilities  - 51,575 51,575 51,575

Total financial liabilities  - 51,575 51,575 51,575

Note

Loans 
and 

receivables 

Other 
amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

2018 2018 2018 2018

Financial assets

Receivables 7 158,714  - 158,714 158,714

Cash and cash equivalents 6 501,001 - 501,001 501,001

Total current financial 
assets 659,715 - 659,715 659,715

Total financial assets 659,715 - 659,715 659,715

Financial liabilities

Payables 8  - 39,215 39,215 39,215

Total current financial 
liabilities  - 39,215 39,215 39,215

Total financial liabilities  - 39,215 39,215 39,215

10 Operating leases

Leases as lessee

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2019 2018

Not later than one year  4,237   3,597 

Later than one year and not later than five years  11,650  4,197 

Later than five years  -  - 

 15,887   7,794  

The Authority leases equipment under an operating lease. The lease runs for a period 
of four years.

The Authority does not have the option to purchase the asset at the end of the lease 
term.

There are no restrictions placed on the Authority by any of the leasing arrangements.

11 Capital commitments

The Authority has no capital commitments (2018: Nil).

12 Related parties

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a 
normal supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms and condition no more or less favourable 
than those that it is reasonable to expect the Authority and Trust would have adopted in dealing 
with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.

Related party disclosures have also not been made for transactions with entities related to the 
Authority (such as funding and financing flows), where the transactions are consistent with the 
normal operating relationships between the entities and are on normal terms and conditions for 
such group transactions.

Transactions with key management personnel including Trustees

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Note 2019 2018

Trustee fees

- H Biddle2 Iwi appointee  456  456 

- P Buckley Crown appointee  456  456 

- A Livingston Crown appointee  456  456 

- Hon. J Luxton Crown appointee  -    1,460 

- T Morgan3 Iwi appointee  -    1,460 

- R Pikia Iwi appointee  730  -   

- W Maag Iwi appointee  456  456 

- T Houpapa1 Crown appointee  -    912 

- V Eparaima Iwi appointee  -    -   

- B Harris Crown appointee  -    456 

- D Loughlin Iwi appointee  -    -   

- R Mahuta Iwi appointee  -    -   

5  2,554  6,112
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12 Related parties (continued)

Note 2019 2018

Trustee expenses

- H Biddle2 Iwi appointee  299  87 

- P Buckley Crown appointee  110  334 

- A Livingston Crown appointee  45  241 

- Hon. J Luxton Crown appointee  -    -   

- T Morgan3 Iwi appointee  -    -   

- R Pikia Iwi appointee  296  -   

- W Maag Iwi appointee  115  198 

- T Houpapa1 Crown appointee  -    137 

- V Eparaima Iwi appointee  -    -   

- B Harris Crown appointee  -   206

5  865  1,203 

Total paid to trustees   3,419   7,315

Contractor expenses (1 FTE)  73,380  72,781 

Total key management personnel compensation  76,799 80,096

1 Trustee fees and expenses for T Houpapa are on a GST inclusive basis.  
2 H Biddle was removed 30 November 2018. 
3 T Morgan was removed 30 November 2018.

Key management personnel have not entered into any transactions with the 
Authority other than the above. 

 Due to the difficulty in determining the full-time equivalent for the Trustees, the full 
time equivalent figure is taken as the number of Trustees (2019: 10, 2018: 10). 

13 Contingencies

The Authority has no contingent assets or liabilities to disclose (2018: Nil).

14  Subsequent events

The Authority has no subsequent events to disclose (2018: Nil).

The river of life, each curve 
more                        than the last.

Tooku awa koiora me oona pikonga he 
kura tangihia o te maataamuri.

The river of life, each curve 
more                        than the last.

Tooku awa koiora me oona pikonga he 
kura tangihia o te maataamuri.

beautiful
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Waikato River Clean-up Trust

	

Independent	Auditor’s	Report	
	

To	the	readers	of	Waikato	River	Clean-up	Trust’s	financial	statements	
for	the	year	ended	30	June	2019	

	
The	Auditor-General	is	the	auditor	of	Waikato	River	Clean-up	Trust	(the	Trust).	The	Auditor-General	has	appointed	me,	David	Walker,	using	the	

staff	and	resources	of	Audit	New	Zealand,	to	carry	out	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	Trust	on	his	behalf.		

Opinion		

We	have	audited	the	financial	statements	of	the	Trust	on	pages	36	to	59,	that	comprise	the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2019,	the	

statement	of	comprehensive	revenue	and	expenses,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	ended	on	that	date	

and	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements	including	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.	

In	our	opinion:	

• the	financial	statements	of	the	Trust	on	pages	36	to	59:	

! present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects:	

• its	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2019;	and	

• its	financial	performance	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended;	and	

! comply	with	generally	accepted	accounting	practice	in	New	Zealand	in	accordance	with	the	Public	Benefit	Entity	Reporting	

Standards	Reduced	Disclosure	Regime.	

Our	audit	was	completed	on	10	October	2019.	This	is	the	date	at	which	our	opinion	is	expressed.	

The	basis	for	our	opinion	is	explained	below.	In	addition,	we	outline	the	responsibilities	of	the	Board	and	our	responsibilities	relating	to	the	

financial	statements,	we	comment	on	other	information,	and	we	explain	our	independence.	

Basis	for	our	opinion	

We	carried	out	our	audit	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards,	which	incorporate	the	Professional	and	Ethical	Standards	

and	the	International	Standards	on	Auditing	(New	Zealand)	issued	by	the	New	Zealand	Auditing	and	Assurance	Standards	Board.	Our	

responsibilities	under	those	standards	are	further	described	in	the	Responsibilities	of	the	auditor	section	of	our	report.	

We	have	fulfilled	our	responsibilities	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards.		

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	audit	opinion.	

Responsibilities	of	the	Board	for	the	financial	statements	

The	Board	is	responsible	on	behalf	of	the	Trust	for	preparing	financial	statements	that	are	fairly	presented	and	comply	with	generally	accepted	

accounting	practice	in	New	Zealand.	The	Board	is	responsible	for	such	internal	control	as	it	determines	is	necessary	to	enable	it	to	prepare	financial	

statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.		

In	preparing	the	financial	statements,	the	Board	is	responsible	on	behalf	of	the	Trust	for	assessing	the	Trust’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern.	

The	Board	is	also	responsible	for	disclosing,	as	applicable,	matters	related	to	going	concern	and	using	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting,	unless	

there	is	an	intention	to	merge	or	to	terminate	the	activities	of	the	Trust,	or	there	is	no	realistic	alternative	but	to	do	so.	

The	Board’s	responsibilities	arise	from	schedule	5	of	the	Waikato-Tainui	Raupatu	Claims	(Waikato	River)	Settlement	Act	2010.		

Responsibilities	of	the	auditor	for	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements	

Our	objectives	are	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements,	as	a	whole,	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	

whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	and	to	issue	an	auditor’s	report	that	includes	our	opinion.		

Reasonable	assurance	is	a	high	level	of	assurance,	but	is	not	a	guarantee	that	an	audit	carried	out	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	

Auditing	Standards	will	always	detect	a	material	misstatement	when	it	exists.	Misstatements	are	differences	or	omissions	of	amounts	or	

disclosures,	and	can	arise	from	fraud	or	error.	Misstatements	are	considered	material	if,	individually	or	in	the	aggregate,	they	could	reasonably	be	

expected	to	influence	the	decisions	of	readers,	taken	on	the	basis	of	these	financial	statements.	

We	did	not	evaluate	the	security	and	controls	over	the	electronic	publication	of	the	financial	statements.		

As	part	of	an	audit	in	accordance	with	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards,	we	exercise	professional	judgement	and	maintain	professional	

scepticism	throughout	the	audit.	Also:	

• We	identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error,	design	and	

perform	audit	procedures	responsive	to	those	risks,	and	obtain	audit	evidence	that	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	

our	opinion.	The	risk	of	not	detecting	a	material	misstatement	resulting	from	fraud	is	higher	than	for	one	resulting	from	error,	as	fraud	

may	involve	collusion,	forgery,	intentional	omissions,	misrepresentations,	or	the	override	of	internal	control.	

• We	obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	

circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	Trust’s	internal	control.	

• We	evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	related	disclosures	

made	by	the	Board.	

• We	conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	by	the	Board	and,	based	on	the	audit	evidence	

obtained,	whether	a	material	uncertainty	exists	related	to	events	or	conditions	that	may	cast	significant	doubt	on	the	Trust’s	ability	to	

continue	as	a	going	concern.	If	we	conclude	that	a	material	uncertainty	exists,	we	are	required	to	draw	attention	in	our	auditor’s	report	

to	the	related	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements	or,	if	such	disclosures	are	inadequate,	to	modify	our	opinion.	Our	conclusions	are	

based	on	the	audit	evidence	obtained	up	to	the	date	of	our	auditor’s	report.	However,	future	events	or	conditions	may	cause	the	Trust	

to	cease	to	continue	as	a	going	concern.	

• We	evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	financial	statements,	including	the	disclosures,	and	whether	the	

financial	statements	represent	the	underlying	transactions	and	events	in	a	manner	that	achieves	fair	presentation.	

We	communicate	with	the	Board	regarding,	among	other	matters,	the	planned	scope	and	timing	of	the	audit	and	significant	audit	findings,	

including	any	significant	deficiencies	in	internal	control	that	we	identify	during	our	audit.		

Our	responsibilities	arise	from	the	Public	Audit	Act	2001.	

Other	information	

The	Board	is	responsible	for	the	other	information.	The	other	information	comprises	the	information	included	on	pages	1	to	19,	31	to	33,	but	does	

not	include	the	financial	statements	and	our	auditor’s	report	thereon.	

Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	other	information	and	we	do	not	express	any	form	of	audit	opinion	or	assurance	

conclusion	thereon.	

In	connection	with	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	our	responsibility	is	to	read	the	other	information.	In	doing	so,	we	consider	whether	the	

other	information	is	materially	inconsistent	with	the	financial	statements	or	our	knowledge	obtained	in	the	audit,	or	otherwise	appears	to	be	

materially	misstated.	If,	based	on	our	work,	we	conclude	that	there	is	a	material	misstatement	of	this	other	information,	we	are	required	to	report	

that	fact.	We	have	nothing	to	report	in	this	regard.	

Independence	

We	are	independent	of	the	Trust	in	accordance	with	the	independence	requirements	of	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	Standards,	which	

incorporate	the	independence	requirements	of	Professional	and	Ethical	Standard	1	(Revised):	Code	of	Ethics	for	Assurance	Practitioners	issued	by	

the	New	Zealand	Auditing	and	Assurance	Standards	Board.		

Other	than	in	our	capacity	as	auditor,	we	have	no	relationship	with,	or	interests,	in	the	Trust.	

	

David	Walker	

Audit	New	Zealand	

On	behalf	of	the	Auditor-General	

Auckland,	New	Zealand		
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

*Subject to the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010 the Trust is to receive settlement funds 
of $210,000,000 over 27 years (19 years remaining). Additional settlement funds of $10,000,000 will be received over 27 
years (19 years remaining) under the Nga Wai o Manipoto (Waipa River) Act 2012. Refer to note 10 for further details.

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

Revenue

Settlement funds *  -  - 

Other revenue 4  898,226  625,920 

Finance revenue 5  6,712,567  6,756,427 

Total revenue  7,610,793  7,382,347 

Expenses

Depreciation 12 (37,749) (34,695)

Amortisation 13 (3,077) (3,077)

Other expenses 6 (1,786,441) (1,686,055)

Grants payments 7 (4,378,793) (4,884,738)

Total expenses (6,206,060) (6,608,565)

Surplus / (deficit) for the period 1,404,733 773,782

Other comprehensive revenue & expense

Gain / (loss) on investment revaluations  1,356,511 2,471,351

Total other comprehensive revenue & expense  1,356,511 2,471,351

Total comprehensive revenue & expense for the period 2,761,244  3,245,133 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8  4,900,235  5,886,092 

Receivables 9  97,863  21,137 

Funding receivable 10  6,922,357  6,922,174 

GST  353,404  404,853 

Other financial assets 11  11,314,577  6,331,392 

Total current assets  23,588,436  19,565,648 

Funding receivable 10  75,337,185  77,632,740 

Property, plant and equipment 12  1,006,838  1,029,745 

Intangible assets 13  15,388  18,465 

Other financial assets 11  53,661,448  51,293,512 

Total non-current assets  130,020,859  129,974,462 

Total assets  153,609,295  149,540,110 

Liabilities

Payables 14  2,573,440  1,227,292 

Provisions 15  2,639,087  2,677,294 

Total current liabilities  5,212,527  3,904,586 

Total liabilities  5,212,527  3,904,586 

Net assets  148,396,768  145,635,524 

Equity

Retained earnings  141,879,473  140,474,740 

Revaluation reserves  6,517,295  5,160,784 

Total equity  148,396,768  145,635,524 

Hon John Luxton  Weo Maag
co-chair  DEPUTY co-chair

10 October 2019
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Revaluation 
reserves

Retained 
earnings Total Equity

Balance as at 1 July 2017  2,689,433  139,700,958  142,390,391 

Total comprehensive revenue & 
expense for the year

Surplus / (deficit) for the year  -  773,782  773,782 

Other comprehensive revenue & expense 2,471,351  - 2,471,351

Total comprehensive revenue 
& expense for the year 2,471,351  773,782  3,245,133 

Balance at 30 June 2018  5,160,784  140,474,740  145,635,524 

Balance as at 1 July 2018  5,160,784  140,474,740  145,635,524 

Total comprehensive revenue &
 expense for the year

Surplus / (deficit) for the year  - 1,404,733  1,404,733 

Other comprehensive revenue & expense  1,356,511  -  1,356,511 

Total comprehensive revenue & 
expense for the year  1,356,511  1,404,733  2,761,244 

Balance at 30 June 2019  6,517,295  141,879,473  148,396,768 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Settlement funds received  7,333,000  7,333,000 

GST  926,605  810,213 

Interest revenue received  1,054,762  1,016,102 

Dividend revenue received  913,147  604,841 

Rent received  6,806  6,409 

Payments to suppliers  (1,502,196)  (1,755,231)

Grant payments  (4,310,465)  (5,256,083)

Net cash flows from operating activities  4,421,659  2,759,251 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of investments  2,000,000  1,450,000 

Purchase of investments through introduction of 
funds  (4,500,000)  (3,000,000)

Purchase of investments through reinvestment of 
funds  (2,895,261)  (1,260,914)

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment  (12,255)  (175,386)

Net cash flows from investing activities  (5,407,516)  (2,986,300)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash, cash 
equivalents, and bank overdrafts (985,857) (227,049)

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the 
beginning of the year  5,886,092  6,113,141 

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at 
the end of the year 8  4,900,235  5,886,092 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

1 Reporting entity

The Waikato River Clean-up Trust (the “Trust”) has been established by virtue of 
the provision of section 32 (2) of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato 
River) Settlement Act 2010 and section 33 (2) of the Ngati Tuwharetoa, Raukawa, 
and Te Arawa River Iwi Waikato River Act 2010.   These financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with schedule 5 of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu 
Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010. Further legislation was enacted in 
April 2012 and the Trust has to meet its obligations in accordance with the Nga 
Wai o Maniapoto (Waipa River) Act 2012 from the Act’s establishment.

The Trust has been established to restore and protect the health and wellbeing 
of the Waikato River for future generations. Accordingly the Trust has designated 
itself as a public benefit entity (“PBE”) for financial reporting purposes.

The financial statements are for the year ended 30 June 2019.

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees on 10 October 2019.

2 Basis of preparation

a) Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, and 
the accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period.

b) Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Trust have been prepared in accordance with 
New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP). 

The Trust has designated itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes 
of complying with NZ GAAP.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply 
with PBE standards RDR (Tier 2). The Trust is eligible to report under PBE 
standards RDR (Tier 2) as it is not defined as a large entity and has no public 
accountability (as defined) but has expenses over $2 million and less than $30 
million. 

The Trust has taken advantage of all Reduced Disclosure Regime (RDR) 
disclosure concessions, however it has elected to still provide a cash and cash 
equivalents accounting policy and disclose the amount of additional grant 
provisions made in note 15.

c) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except where modified by the revaluation of certain financial instruments.

d) Presentation currency and rounding

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($) and all 
values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

e) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

3 Significant accounting policies

a) Financial instruments

i) Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in term deposits, 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair 
value, plus, for instruments not at fair value, they are recognised through 
the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue & Expense with any directly 
attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition non-
derivative financial instruments are measured as described below. 

A financial instrument is recognised if the Trust becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised 
if the Trust’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the Trust transfers the financial asset to another party without 
retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset.  Purchases 
and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e., the date that 
the Trust commits itself to purchase or sell the asset.  Financial liabilities are 
derecognised if the Trust’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are 
discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and other 
highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less.  Bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 
Trust’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense/available for sale

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and 
expense are those that are designated into the category at initial recognition 
or are not classified in any of the other categories above. They are included 
in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of, or realise, 
the investment within 12 months of balance date. The Trust includes in this 
category:

•  investments that it intends to hold long-term but which may be realised 
before maturity; and

•  shareholdings that it holds for strategic purposes.

These investments are measured at their fair value, with gains and losses 
recognised in other comprehensive revenue & expense, except for 
impairment losses, which are recognised in surplus or deficit. The gain or loss 
does not include interest or dividend income.

On derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive revenue and expense is reclassified from equity to surplus or 
deficit.

Receivables 

Receivables are recorded at the amount due less any provision for 
uncollectability.

Payables

Payables are recorded at the amount payable.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after 
balance date, which are included in non-current assets.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Trust’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.  An 
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying amount of 
assets and are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

i) Impairment of loans and receivables

Impairment losses on an individual basis are determined by an evaluation 
of the exposures on an instrument by instrument basis. All individual 
instruments that are considered significant are subject to this approach.

For receivables which are not significant on an individual basis, collective 
impairment is assessed on a portfolio basis based on numbers of days 
overdue, and taking into account the historical loss experience in portfolios 
with a similar amount of days overdue.

The recoverable amount of the Trust’s loans and receivables carried at 
amortised cost is calculated as the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). 
Receivables with short duration are not discounted.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed. The reversal does not result in a carrying amount of the financial 
asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue & Expense.

c) Revenue

Revenue is measured at fair value. Revenue may be derived from either exchange 
or non-exchange transactions.

 Exchange transactions

Exchange transactions are transactions where the Trust receives assets or 
services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal 
value to another entity in exchange.

The Trust receives the following exchange revenue streams:

i) Interest and dividends

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividends are recognised when the Trust’s right to receive the payment is 
established.

ii) Services 

 Revenue from services rendered is recognised in surplus or deficit in 
proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance 
date. The stage of completion is measured with reference to the project 
milestones.

 Non-exchange transactions

These are all other transactions that are not exchange transactions

The Trust receives the following non-exchange revenue streams:

i) Government grants

 Grants received from the government are the primary source of funding 
to the Trust and are restricted for the purposes of the Trust meeting its 
objectives as specified in the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato 
River) Settlement Act 2010. If the Trust is unable to cover its operating 
costs from government funding, then it is able to use cash from its reserves.  
Government grants are recognised as revenue when they become receivable 

unless there is an obligation to return the funds if conditions of the grant are 
not met.  If there is such an obligation, the grants are initially recorded as 
grants received in advance and recognised as revenue when conditions of the 
grant are satisfied.  

 Settlement grants are measured at the present value of the revenue expected 
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation.  The increase in the settlement grants due to the 
passage of time is recognised in finance revenue.

ii) Unwind discount on funding receivable

The increase in the government settlement grants due to the passage of 
time is recognised in finance revenue as an unwind discount on funding 
receivable.

d) Finance revenue and expenses

Finance revenue comprises interest revenue on funds invested and gains on the 
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets. Interest revenue is recognised as it 
accrues, using the effective interest method. 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of 
discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value 
through surplus or deficit and impairment losses recognised on financial assets 
(except for receivables).  

e) Grant expenditure

Grants are those grants awarded if the grant application meets the specified 
criteria and have been approved by the Board. These are recognised as 
expenditure based on the deliverables and timeframe set out in the signed 
funding deeds.

All grants will be recognised as an expense when a milestone is met, including a 
provision for costs incurred between milestones. Grants that are not recognised 
are recorded as funding commitments.

For grants under $50,000, an 80% payment is made upfront and the remaining 
is paid on completion of the project. Grants over $50,000 require evidence of 
deliverables completed before payment is made.

f) Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following asset classes: motor 
vehicles, office equipment, plant & equipment, furniture & fittings, artwork, 
buildings and land.

The asset classes are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment is recognised as an asset 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.

In most instances, an item of property, plant, and equipment is initially 
recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, 
it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net 
in the surplus or deficit. 

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are 
recognised in surplus or deficit as they are incurred.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant, and 
equipment other than land and artwork, at rates that will write-off the cost of 
the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful 
lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of property, plant, and 
equipment have been estimated as follows:

 Office equipment 1.5 to 5.7 years 17.5%-67%

 Building 14.2 to 50 years 2%-7%

 Furniture & fittings 7 to 9.5 years 10.5%-14.3%

 Motor vehicles 4.7 years 21.0%

 Plant & equipment 5.7 years 17.5%

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if 
applicable, at each financial year end.

g) Intangible assets

Software acquisition and development

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal 
use are recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include the software 
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Staff training costs are recognised in surplus or deficit when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a 
straight-line basis over its useful life.

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date 
that the asset is derecognised.

The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible 
assets have been estimated as follows:

Management software 10 years 10%

h) Impairment of property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets

The Trust does not hold any cash generating assets. Assets are considered cash 
generating when their primary objective is to generate a commercial return.

Non-cash generating assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a 
finite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated 
replacement cost approach, restoration cost approach, or a service units 
approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends 
on the nature of the impairment and availability of information.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
regarded as impaired and the carrying amount is written-down to the recoverable 
amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in surplus or deficit. The reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

i) Provisions

A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing 
when there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that expenditure will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to 
be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised in finance expenses.

j) Income tax

In accordance with schedule 5 of Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) 
Settlement Act 2010 the Trust has been granted exemption from income tax.  
Income Tax Act 2007 section CW 41 specifies non business revenue will be 
exempt from tax.  The Trust has been granted charitable status by the Charities 
Commission and is registered as a charity.

k) Goods and Services Tax

All items are stated exclusive of GST except for receivables and payables, which 
are presented on a GST inclusive basis.   

The GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing 
and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement 
of Cash Flows.  

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

l) Equity

Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. 
Equity is disaggregated into the following components:

• Retained earnings

• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and 
expense reserve.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense 
reserve

This reserve comprises the cumulative net change of financial assets classified at 
fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense (otherwise known 
as “available for sale” financial assets).

m) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing these financial statements, the Trust has made estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future.

These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual 
results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below:           

i) Settlement funds and funding receivable

Refer to note 10

ii) Grant provisions

Refer to note 15
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4  Other revenue

2019 2018

Lease revenue  1,156  1,156 

Rent received 4,809   5,253

Dividends received 892,261 619,511

898,226 625,920

The Crown provides $910,000 directly to the Authority to cover reasonable 
operational costs for the Authority and Trust. In 2018 the Trust made a decision 
to fund its own expenditure. The Authority does make payments on behalf of the 
Trust and the Authority is regularly reimbursed. Amounts that are outstanding at 30 
June 2019 are recorded as a payable to the Authority in the Statement of Financial 
Position.

5    Finance revenue

2019 2018

Interest on term deposits and investments 1,088,617  1,016,238 

Unwind discount on funding receivable 5,037,627 5,146,600 

Capital gain on sale of investments 586,323 593,589 

6,712,567 6,756,427 

6     Other expenses

Note 2019 2018

Other expenses include:

Accounting fees  51,670  52,544 

Audit fees - current year  27,024  26,642 

Audit fees - prior year  -  198 

Consultant and contractor fees  740,897  749,352 

Trustees’ fees 18  50,996  61,140 

Trustees’ and governance expenses 18  6,394  7,796 

Other operating expenses  909,460  788,384 

 1,786,441  1,686,056 

7  Grants

2019 2018

Ata Te Aho  8,491  1,001 

Auckland/Waikato Fish and Game  -  (283)

B Ormsby  2,077  - 

Bancorp  46,137  301,722 

2019 2018

Beef & Lamb NZ  40,489  14,273 

Boffa Miskell Ltd  126,689  (2,106)

Buddle Finlay  7,000  (7,000)

C Lea  23,818  24,864 

D Barke  2,339  3,229 

DairyNZ Limited  2,251  133,591 

Department of Conservation  277,381  (66,875)

E Berryman-Kemp  10,870  32,609 

Enterprise 303 Ltd  41,391  32,474 

ESR Limited  11,900  155,281 

G Williams  30,500  26,063 

Greening Taupo  21,223  16,140 

H Esendam  23  3,681 

I Balme  31,359  44,726 

J & J Milburn  2,755  4,613 

J Missen  880  26,159 

K & K Bucher  10,327  (10,257)

K Lambeth  11,976  6,294 

Karapiro Gully Cambridge  (28,434)  (235)

Kowhai Media Ltd  43,478  - 

Kukutaruhe Education Trust  53,816  1,680 

L Kerr  4,651  60,513 

L Phipps  4,640  - 

Landcare Research Ltd  -  1,601 

Landcorp Farming Ltd  9,395  (205)

Mangakotukutuku Stream Care Group  41,755  43,040 

Lower Mangapiko Stream Care Group  1,485  5,389 

Mangatawhiri River Catchment Care Group  33,221  - 

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board  232,310  246,500 

Mercury  36,127  29,794 

Motukakaho Island Restoration Trust  2,609  (1,643)

New Zealand Farm Environment Trust  20,000  - 

New Zealand Rowing Association Inc  79,988  73,813 

Ngaati Hauaa Mahi Trust  241,828  210,405 

Ngaati Maahanga  2,000  13,000 

Ngaati Tahu-Ngaati Whaoa Runanga Trust  61,548  87,210 

Nikau Family Estate Trust  7,906  83,215 

Nikau Farm Estate Trust  63,833  49,583 
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2019 2018

NIWA  183,312  128,047 

NIWA-Waikato Raupatu River Trust  30,637  351,997 

NJ & LM Williams  -  (1,095)

NZ Landcare Trust  75,809  84,116 

Otorohanga District Council  -  (2,914)

Performing Arts Community Trust  -  13,043 

Pukeroa Hangatiki A55 Trust  15,485  (382)

Puniu River Care Inc  133,300  155,764 

Queen Elizabeth II National Trust  -  7,197 

Rangitoto Lands Limited  22,609  - 

Raukawa Charitable Trust  60,121  51,619 

Riverdale Group Ltd  103,609  54,297 

S Francis  15,206  - 

Sir David Fagan  12,913  53,834 

SMP Muir  2,319  41,159 

Solid Energy NZ Ltd & Waahi Whanui Trust  (6,733)  (2,847)

South Waikato District Council  22,850  14,593 

South Waikato Environmental Initiatives  -  (5,532)

St Peters College  -  2,834 

Sustainable Coastlines Charitable Trust  16,914  (7,147)

Tainui Development Authority  51,430  63,883 

Te Arawa Lakes Trust  72,677  23,522 

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust  120,243  59,851 

Te Awa River Ride Charitable Trust  13,260  - 

Te Runanga O Ngaati Kea Ngaati Tuara Trust  6,407  32,368 

Te Toke Ahu Whenua Trust  (8,896)  6,652 

Toro Atu Charitable Trust  (33,719)  5,153 

Turangawaewae Trust Board  -  163,354 

Upper Maire Land Care Society Inc  19,988  - 

Waahi Whaanui Trust  163,313  - 

Waikare Marae  -  17,391 

Waikato District Council  125,404  70,913 

Waikato District Council & Ngaati Hauaa Mahi Trust  (118,199)  15,652 

Waikato Regional Council  1,211,598  1,369,567 

Waikato Regional Council & Te Arawa River Iwi 
Trust  49,066  40,000 

Waikato Regional Council & Nga Uri a Maahanga  (11)  - 

Waikato River Care  82,453  (34,136)

2019 2018

Waikato River Trails  50,094  58,897 

Waikato Rowing Club  54,000  13,044 

University of Waikato  75,000  45,606 

Waikato-Tainui College  121,485  172,206 

Waipa District Council  3,991  178,618 

Waiterimu Golf Club  8,826  - 

Whaingaroa Harbourcare Inc  -  (245)

 4,378,793  4,884,738 

The Board approved these payments during the year.

8 Cash and cash equivalents 

2019 2018

Bank balances 2,584,102  2,380,168 

Term deposits with maturities of less than 3 months 1,000,614   502,655 

Portfolio call accounts 1,315,519  3,003,269 

Total cash and cash equivalents in the Statement 
of Cash Flows 4,900,235  5,886,092 

Fair Value

The carrying value of cash at bank and short-term deposits with maturities less than 
three months approximates their fair value.

Portfolio call accounts

Portfolio call accounts are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the portfolio call 
accounts are determined by reference to published current bid price quotations in an 
active market.

Cash funds

Cash funds are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the cash funds are 
determined by reference to published current bid price quotations in an active 
market.

9 Receivables

2019 2018

Receivables from exchange transactions:

Prepayments  22,448   19,209 

Receivables and other accrued income 636  1,928 

 23,084   21,137 

Receivables from non-exchange transactions:

Other receivables 74,779 - 

 74,779 - 

 97,863  21,137
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Short term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less any provision for 
uncollectability. A receivable is considered uncollectable when there is evidence 
that the amount due will not be fully collected. The amount that is uncollectable 
is the difference between the amount due and the present value of the amount 
expected to be collected.

10 Funding receivable

2019 2018

Funding receivables from non-exchange transactions:

Current 6,922,357  6,922,174 

Non-current 75,337,185  77,632,740 

82,259,541  84,554,914 

Under the terms of the Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement 
Act 2010, the Trust is to receive $7,000,000 each year over the next 19 years in 
settlement funding.  This revenue has been recognised upfront and the related 
receivable has been discounted back at 6.0% which was the upfront treasury 
risk-free discount rate at settlement. The funding receivable of $133,000,000 has 
been discounted by $54,893,185 to provide the present value of $78,106,815.

Under the terms of the Nga Wai o Maniapoto (Waipa River) Act 2012, the Trust is to 
receive $1,333,333 in year one and $333,333 each year after over the next 19 years 
in settlement funding. This revenue has been recognised upfront and the related 
receivable has been discounted back at 4.63% which was the treasury risk-free 
rate at 30 June 2012. The funding receivable of $6,333,333 has been discounted by 
$2,180,697 to provide the present value of $4,152,726.

11 Other financial assets

2019 2018

Current investments

Term deposits with maturities of 
4-12 months 8,557,559  3,521,603 

NZ bonds (includes capital notes) 2,757,018  2,809,789 

Total current investments 11,314,577  6,331,392 

Non-current investments

NZ bonds (includes capital notes) 12,034,874  13,662,582 

Listed shares in Australasian Equities 9,657,329  8,137,719 

Listed shares in International Equities 13,927,695  12,575,478 

International speciality funds 1,267,658   1,270,339 

PIE cash funds 16,773,892  15,647,394 

Total non-current investments 53,661,448  51,293,512 

Total other financial assets 64,976,025  57,624,904 

Fair value

Term deposits

The carrying amount of term deposits approximates their fair value.

Listed shares

Listed shares are recognised at fair value. The fair values of listed shares are determined by reference to 
published current bid price quotations in an active market.

Bonds

Bonds are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the bonds are determined by reference to published 
current bid price quotations in an active market.

Speciality funds

Speciality funds are recognised at fair value. The fair value of the speciality funds are determined by reference 
to published current bid price quotations in an active market.

Fair value hierarchy disclosures

For those instruments recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position, fair values are determined 
according to quoted market price (level 1) – Financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in 
active markets.

Impairment

There were no impairment expenses or provisions for other financial assets. At balance date, none of these 
financial assets are either past due or impaired.

12 Property, plant and equipment

Cost Buildings Land
Furniture 
& fittings

Office 
equipment Artwork

Plant & 
Equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

Balance at 1 July 2017 575,278 314,077 18,839 68,319 -  - 65,589  1,042,102 

Balance at 30 June 2018/
1 July 2018  575,278  314,077  18,839  75,036 168,000 670 65,589

  

1,217,489

Additions -  -    -    14,842  -    -    -    14,842

Disposals  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2019 575,278  314,077  18,839  89,878  168,000  670  65,589  1,232,331

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2017  51,024  -  6,315  60,140  -  -  35,570  153,049 

Balance at 30 June 2018/
1 July 2018  64,169  -  8,617  65,593  -  22  49,343  187,744 

Depreciation expense  13,145  -  2,302  9,901  -  134  12,267  37,749 

Elimination of disposal  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2019 77,314  - 10,919 75,494  - 156 61,610 225,493

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2017  524,254  314,077  12,524  8,179  -  -  30,019  889,053 

At 30 June 2018 and 
1 July 2018  511,109  314,077  10,222  9,443  168,000  648  16,246  1,029,745 

At 30 June 2019  497,964  314,077  7,920  14,384  168,000  514  3,979  1,006,838 
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Impairment                                                                                                                                           

There have been no impairment losses recognised or reversed for property, plant 
and equipment (2018: Nil.                                                                                                                                            

Work in progress                                                                                                                                        

The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is 
Nil (2018: Nil)                                                                                                                                            

Restrictions                                                                                                                                         

There are no restrictions over the title of property, plant and equipment. No 
property, plant and equipment are pledged as security for liabilities.                                                                                                                                    

Capital commitments                                                                                                                                     

The Trust has no capital commitments (2018: Nil).         

13 Intangible assets

Cost
Management 

software Total

Balance at 1 July 2017  73,649  73,649 

Balance at 30 June 2018/1 July 2018  73,649  73,649 

Additions  -  - 

Disposal  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2019  73,649  73,649 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2017  52,107  52,107 

Balance at 30 June 2018/1 July 2018 55,184  55,184 

Amortisation charge 3,077  3,077 

Elimination of disposal  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2019  58,261  58,261 

Carrying amounts

Balance at 1 July 2017  21,542  21,542 

At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018  18,465  18,465 

At 30 June 2019  15,388  15,388 

There are no restrictions over the title of intangible assets. No intangible assets are 
pledged as security for liabilities.

14 Payables

2019 2018

Payables from exchange transactions:

Payables and accrued expenses 27,024   17,642 

Reimbursement payable to the Waikato River Authority 649,781   158,546 

676,805  176,188 

Payables from non-exchange transactions:

Other payables  1,896,635   1,051,104 

 1,896,635   1,051,104 

 2,573,440   1,227,292 

Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable.

15 Provisions

2019 2018

Grant provisions

Opening balance  2,677,294  2,753,527 

Additional provisions made  1,485,549  1,348,895 

Amounts used (1,327,834) (1,282,226)

Unused amounts reversed (195,922) (142,902)

Closing balance  2,639,087  2,677,294 

Current  2,639,087  2,677,294 

Non-current  -  - 

Total provisions  2,639,087  2,677,294 

Grant provisions

The current portion relates to grants that are due to be paid out in the next financial 
year.

For grants approved in the 30 June 2019 financial year and future periods the provision 
is calculated using an estimate of costs incurred but not invoiced to balance date 
obtained from grant recipients.  This represents a change in accounting estimate for 
grants approved in the 30 June 2019 financial year.  Because of changes to the way that 
grants are now documented, funded and recorded it is impracticable to estimate the 
impact of these changes on the grant provision.  

For grants approved before the 30 June 2019 financial year the grant provision 
is calculated in the same manner as previous financial years.  The grant provision 
is calculated by adding together overdue amounts (for grant project milestones 
completed but not yet invoiced) and a provisional estimate. The estimate pro-ratas the 
next milestone amount due after balance date over the period of the milestone that 
falls before balance date. Changes to the next milestone amount or completion date 
will affect the amount and timing of the outflow of funds.  

16 Capital management

The Trust manages its revenues, expenses, liabilities, and general financing dealings 
prudently.

The Trust’s equity is largely managed as a by-product of managing revenue, expenses, 
assets, liabilities, and compliance with the Board’s instructions. 

The operating revenue and cash flows, including other comprehensive revenue, more 
than covers the Trust’s operating expenses and cash outflows. 

As a result, the Trust’s capital base is maintained.
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17 Financial instruments

Classification and fair values

Note
Loans and 

receivables 
Available-

for-sale*

Other 
amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

2019 2019 2019 2019 2019

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8  4,900,235  -  -  4,900,235  4,900,235 

Receivables 9  75,415  -  -  75,415  75,415 

Funding receivable 10 6,922,357  -  -  6,922,357  6,922,357 

Other financial assets 11  8,557,559  2,757,018  -  11,314,577  11,314,577 

Total current financial assets  20,455,566  2,757,018  -  23,212,584  23,212,584 

Funding receivable 10  75,337,185  -  - 75,337,185 75,337,185 

Other financial assets 11  -  53,661,448  -  53,661,448  53,661,448 

Total non-current financial 
assets  75,337,185  53,661,448  -  128,998,633  128,998,633 

Total financial assets  95,792,750  56,418,466  -  152,211,216  152,211,216 

Financial liabilities

Payables 14  -  -  2,573,440  2,573,440  2,573,440 

Total current liabilities  -  -  2,573,440  2,573,440  2,573,440 

Total financial liabilities  -  -  2,573,440  2,573,440  2,573,440 

Note
Loans and 

receivables 
Available-

for-sale*

Other 
amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8  5,886,092  -  -  5,886,092  5,886,092 

Receivables 9  1,928  -  -  1,928  1,928 

Funding receivable 10  6,922,174  -  -  6,922,174  6,922,174 

Other financial assets 11  3,521,603  2,809,789  -  6,331,392  6,331,392 

Total current financial assets  16,331,797  2,809,789  -  19,141,586  19,141,586 

Note
Loans and 

receivables 
Available-

for-sale*

Other 
amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

Funding receivable 10  77,632,740  -  -  77,632,740  77,632,740 

Other financial assets 11  -  51,293,512  -  51,293,512  51,293,512 

Total non-current financial 
assets  77,632,740  51,293,512  -  128,926,252  128,926,252 

Total financial assets  93,964,538  54,103,301  -  148,067,839  148,067,839 

Financial liabilities

Payables 14  -  -  1,227,292  1,227,292  1,227,292 

Total current liabilities  -  -  1,227,292  1,227,292  1,227,292 

Total financial liabilities  -  -  1,227,292  1,227,292  1,227,292 

*Also known as Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

18 Related parties

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a  normal 
supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms and condition no more or less favourable than those that 
it is reasonable to expect the Trust would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same 
circumstances.

Related party disclosures have also not been made for transactions with entities related to the Trust (such as 
funding and financing flows), where the transactions are consistent with the normal operating relationships 
between the entities and are on normal terms and conditions for such transactions.

Transactions with key management personnel including Trustees

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Note 2019 2018

Trustee fees

- H Biddle1 Iwi appointee  912  5,016 

- P Buckley Crown appointee  5,016  3,192 

- A Livingston Crown appointee  3,192  3,648 

- Hon. J Luxton Crown appointee  13,870  16,790 

- T Morgan2 Iwi appointee  2,190  13,120 

- R Pikia Iwi appointee  12,136  4,114 

- W Maag Iwi appointee  5,928  6,384 

- T Houpapa Crown appointee  2,280  4,128 

- V Eparaima Iwi appointee  456  3,380 

- B Harris Crown appointee  1,824  1,368 

- D Loughlin Iwi appointee  1,824  - 

- R Mahuta Iwi appointee  1,368  - 

6  50,996  61,140 
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18 Related parties (continued)

Note 2019 2018

Trustee expenses

- H Biddle1 Iwi appointee  299  2,093 

- P Buckley Crown appointee  1,372  728 

- A Livingston Crown appointee  336  340 

- Hon. J Luxton Crown appointee  -  - 

- T Morgan2 Iwi appointee  184  799 

- R Pikia Iwi appointee  1,769  665 

- W Maag Iwi appointee  1,539  1,419 

- V Eparaima Crown appointee  -  950 

- T Houpapa Iwi appointee  60  762 

- B Harris Crown appointee  53  40 

- D Loughlin Iwi appointee  669  - 

- R Mahuta Iwi appointee  113  - 

6  6,394  7,796 

Total paid to trustees  57,390  68,936 

Contractor expenses (1 FTE)  255,234  253,151 

Total key management personnel compensation  312,624  322,087 

1 H Biddle was removed 30 November 2018.
2 T Morgan was removed 30 November 2018.

Key management personnel have not entered into any transactions with the Trust other than the 
above. Due to the difficulty in determining the full-time equivalent for the Trustees, the full-time 
equivalent figure is taken as the number of Trustees (2019: 10, 2018: 10).

During the year the Trust recorded grant expenses for the following funding recipients 
that are listed on the Trust Register of Interests:

Organisation: Trust Board member: Position:

Waikato Regional Council Alan Livingston Chair

Waikato River Care Peter Buckley Advisor

Ngaati Tahu-Ngaati Whaoa Runanga Trust Roger Pikia Chair

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust Roger Pikia Chair, Trustee

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board Weo Maag Board Member

Te Awa River Ride Charitable Trust Barry Harris Trustee

NIWA Barry Harris Chair

19 Funding Commitments

Grants

The Trust has funding commitments relating to grant applications for the following 
funding recipients.

2019 2018

A Wills  21,100  - 

Ata Te Aho  5,781  14,272 

B Ormsby  46,845  - 

Bancorp  -  46,104 

Beef & Lamb NZ  74,375  114,865 

Boffa Miskell Ltd  105,710  232,399 

C Lea  1,050  24,865 

D Barke  273  - 

DairyNZ  -  301,816 

D Barke  -  2,612 

Department of Conservation  624,814  902,195 

E Berryman-Kemp  -  10,870 

Enterprise 303 Ltd  33,615  41,391 

ESR Ltd  72,116  84,016 

G Williams  3,736  34,166 

Greening Taupo  12,449  33,672 

H Esendam  -  24 

I Balme  9,850  34,029 

J & J Milburn  -  2,755 

J Missen  -  880 

K & K Bucher  3,731  14,057 

K Lambeth  -  11,976 

Kapuia Ltd  99,019  - 

Kukutaruhe Education Trust  32,553  86,369 

L Kerr  -  4,651 

L Phipps  23,965  - 

Landcorp Farming Limited  2,513  11,908 

Mangakotukutuku Stream Care Group  111  41,866 

Lower Mangapiko Stream Care Group  -  1,487 

M Cane  14,228  - 

Maniapoto Māori Trust Board  234,293  352,697
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2019 2018

Mangatawhiri River Catchment Care Group  48,283  - 

Mercury  2,236  38,364 

Motukakaho Island Restoration Trust  -  2,609 

New Zealand Farm Environment Trust  5,000  - 

New Zealand Rowing Association Ltd  194,025  274,013 

Ngaati Hauaa Mahi Trust  231,935  271,805 

Ngaati Maahanga  -  2,000 

Ngaati Tahu-Ngaati Whaoa Runanga Trust  158,833  134,901 

Nikau Family Estate Trust  31  7,937 

Nikau Farm Estate Trust  12,671  76,504 

NIWA  385,505  220,991 

NIWA-Waikato Raupatu River Trust  73,422  104,059 

NZ Landcare Trust  85,312  161,868 

Pukeroa Hangatiki A55 Trust  -  15,485 

Puniu River Care Inc  442,447  575,747 

R Bullock  20,508  - 

Raukawa Charitable Trust  104,008  19,150 

Riverdale Group Ltd  18,342  121,951 

S Francis  3,945  - 

Sir David Fagan  20,209  33,122 

SMP Muir  -  2,319 

Solid Energy NZ Ltd & Waahi Whanui Trust  15,750  9,017 

South Waikato District Council  11,181  34,030 

Sustainable Coastlines Charitable Trust  -  16,914 

Tainui Development Authority  142,260  193,690 

Te Arawa Lakes Trust  10,917  83,593 

Te Arawa River Iwi Trust  106,719  9,571 

Te Awa River Ride Charitable Trust  320,701  - 

Te Runanga O Ngaati Kea Ngaati Tuara Trust  132,648  6,408 

Te Toke Ahu Whenua Trust  -  1,336 

Te Whakakitenga O Waikato Inc  69,565  - 

Toro Atu Charitable Trust  -  124 

Turangawaewae Trust Board  -  6,950 

Upper Maire Land Care Society Inc  4,345  - 

Waahi Whaanui Trust  98,426  - 

Waikato District Council  296,449  111,061 

Waikato Regional Council  1,263,496  863,929 

2019 2018

Waikato Regional Council & Te Arawa River Iwi Trust  229,326  278,391 

Waikato RiverCare  136,533  194,476 

Waikato River Trails  207,223  47,878 

Waikato Rowing Club  36,000  - 

Waikato Tainui College  183,466  116,075 

University of Waikato  375,000  - 

Waipa District Council  -  3,990 

Waiterimu Golf Club  14,590  - 

 6,883,434  6,446,200 

Grants approved may include multiple grant applications/projects to make up the 
total included.

20   Contingencies

The Trust has no contingent assets or liabilities to disclose (2018: Nil).

21 Subsequent events

The Trust has no subsequent events to disclose (2018: Nil).
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